٦

70220-3

#### No. 70220-3-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### KEBEDE ADMASU, et al.,

Appellants,

VS.

THE PORT OF SEATTLE, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent.

## **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

Darrell L. Cochran, WSBA No. 22851 Jason P. Amala, WSBA No. 37054 Kevin M. Hastings, WSBA No. 42316 Counsel for Appellants

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA, PLLC 911 Pacific Avenue, Suite 200 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 777-0799

×

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case is emblematic of the consequences of disregarding timehonored judicial mechanisms put into place to balance the scales between the interests of private, individual citizens and powerful, well-funded governmental monoliths. The Port of Seattle ("Port") began operations on its newest, westernmost runway (the "Third Runway") in 2008. Almost immediately, the Port suffered a public backlash as a result of the Third Runway's operations. And rightfully so: changed flight patterns; increased overhead flights at all hours of the day and night; and the resulting deafening noise, bone-rattling vibrations, soot, and fumes generated by airplanes using the Third Runway combined to rob homeowners in the area of any peace or enjoyment they had in their homes and neighborhoods.

As a result, Appellants sought to marshal their resources and avoid hundreds of individual lawsuits both they and the trial courts could ill afford by seeking collective adjudication of their common issues—seeking just compensation for what the Third Runway's operations had taken from them—through a class action lawsuit. Despite presenting ample evidence to the trial court of the overwhelmingly common issues of law and material fact in the case, the trial court denied class certification.

Having already sunk enormous costs into discovery necessary to seek class certification, the parties agreed to manage the sudden morass of hundreds of individual plaintiffs through selecting and subjecting to discovery a small handful of plaintiffs as "test cases." However, the Port then embarked on a war of attrition, seeking extremely costly, timeconsuming, and unnecessary individualized discovery directed at each and every one of them—the very sort of scenario that Washington law favoring class actions aims to prevent.

ï

Moreover, despite refusing to collectively adjudicate the common issues brought by the Appellants, the trial court proceeded to summarily dismiss *all* non-noise related claims of huge swaths of Appellants, despite the Port *never* moving for or supporting dismissal of such claims. Finally, and in the same vein, the trial court dismissed *all* the claims of Appellants who had granted avigation easements to the Port, despite those Appellants never receiving any warning that the Port would use the easements as an unlimited license to ruin their quality of life and muzzle their constitutional rights.

In short, Appellants have had to suffer as their individual lives were drowned out by the din of civilization's expansion. All they ask for now is a level playing field and equal treatment in addressing their claims for what they have lost. Accordingly, Appellants respectfully ask this court to reverse the trial court's order denying class certification and its orders summarily dismissing many Appellants' claims and to remand for further proceedings.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### Assignments of Error

No. 1: The trial court erred in denying Appellants' Second Amended Motion for Class Certification. No. 2: The trial court erred in granting the Port's Motion for Summary Judgment for Dismissal of Claims Barred by Federal Law Regarding Noise Exposure Maps.

.

- No. 3: The trial court erred in granting the Port's Motion for Summary Judgment Based on Express Avigation Easements. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error
- No. 1: Could the proposed class representatives have adequately represented and protected the interests of other class members pursuant to CR 23(a)(4)? (Assignment of Error No. 1).
- No. 2: Could the proposed class representatives have adequately represented the interests of unnamed class members by pursuing only damages for permanent damage to the value of real property? (Assignment of Error No. 1).
- No. 3: Did questions of law and fact common to the members of the proposed classes predominate over individual questions? (Assignment of Error No. 1).
- No. 4: Did Appellants present sufficient evidence of a methodology for proving a class-wide diminution of property values attributable to the Port's Third Runway operations? (Assignment of Error No. 1).
- No. 5: Is a class action suit a superior method of resolving potentially thousands of inverse condemnation claims with predominantly common issues of law and fact and scant individual value? (Assignment of Error No. 1).

- No. 6: Did the trial court err in dismissing Appellants' claims based on vibrations, fumes, dust, and other non-noise sources because the Port was not entitled to dismissal of those claims under federal law? (Assignment of Error No. 2).
- No. 7: Did the trial court impermissibly shift the burden to Appellants on summary judgment to produce evidence rebutting the proposition that "vibrations" are not equivalent to "noise" when the Port did not move for summary judgment on claims of damages based on "vibrations"? (*Assignment of Error No. 2*).
- No. 8: Did the trial court impermissibly shift the burden to Appellants on summary judgment to produce evidence rebutting the proposition that "vibrations" are not equivalent to "noise" when the Port failed to meet its initial burden of establishing through evidence that "noise" and "vibrations" are one and the same? (*Assignment of Error No. 2*).
- No. 9: Did the trial court impermissibly shift the burden to Appellants on summary judgment to produce evidence of damages attributable to fumes, dust, fear, and other non-noise damages when the Port did not expressly move for summary judgment on such claims? (Assignment of Error No. 2).

- No. 10: Did the trial court improperly dismiss the claims of Appellants whose properties were affected by avigation easements when, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Appellants, they did not *knowingly* waive their constitutional right to seek compensation for takings when granting the easements? (Assignment of Error No. 3).
- No. 11: Did the trial court improperly dismiss the claims of Appellants whose properties were affected by avigation easements when, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Appellants, they did not *voluntarily* waive their constitutional right to seek compensation for takings when granting the easements? (Assignment of Error No. 3).

#### **III. STATEMENT OF CASE**

#### A. The Third Runway's Impact On Nearby Communities

In November 2008, the Port began operations on the Third Runway.<sup>1</sup> The Port built the Third Runway 1,750 feet west of the existing runways (e.g., 1/3 of a mile),<sup>2</sup> and the Third Runway is responsible for <u>33%</u> of arriving air traffic (e.g., approximately 52,320 arrivals in 2010, or 143 planes per day).<sup>3</sup> The Third Runway changed flight patterns, including overflights from "propeller-driven aircraft that are required to turn on takeoff to avoid being overtaken by faster jet aircraft that are

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Clerks Papers (CP) at 3937.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP at 1502.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP at 1295; see also CP at 1523 (reflecting a total of 313,954 flights in 2010).

taking off behind them."4

Unsurprisingly, the Third Runway's operations immediately began impacting the surrounding neighborhoods to their detriment. The Port received hundreds of complaints (a 350% increase) immediately after the Third Runway opened.<sup>5</sup> And the complaints of property owners described the Third Runway's negative impacts in no uncertain terms. As stated by one property owner, "Before, when the planes were in a landing pattern a half-mile away, there was little noise."<sup>6</sup> Property owners were able to enjoy their backyards, carry on conversations without difficulty, watch television without issue, and use electronic devices without any signal interference.<sup>7</sup> After the Port began operations on the Third Runway, however, property owners in the vicinity became prisoners in their own homes, unable to enjoy their outside property. Children no longer played outside, homeowners no longer went for walks or bike rides, and neighbors no longer held conversations outside.<sup>8</sup> As another property owner aptly summarized, "You never see anyone out and about."9

For some owners, not even remaining locked inside with all the windows and doors shut was able to bring relief.<sup>10</sup> The Third Runway has brought aircraft directly overhead at low altitudes, and consequently,

<sup>7</sup> CP at 3445-3446; 3452-3453; 3470-3472; 3542; 3548; 3580-3581.
<sup>8</sup>CP at 3470-3472; 3518-3519; 3542; 3573-3574; 3580-3581.
<sup>9</sup> CP at 3573-3574.
<sup>10</sup> CP at 3525; 3573-3574.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP at 1503.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP at 1051-1054, 1103 (noting an increase in complaints per month by a factor of 3.5)

<sup>6</sup> CP at 3588-3589.

the noise was not only louder but significantly more intense.<sup>11</sup> The thrust of jet engines now shook houses, causing so much vibration that glassware rattles, light bulbs unscrewed, and nails backed out of sidewall.<sup>12</sup> The aircraft also disrupted electronic signals, interfered with cellular phone conversations, and disrupted satellite television transmissions.<sup>13</sup> Along with these issues, the aircraft using the Third Runway substantially increased the amount of dust and soot falling on homes and caused jet fuel odor.<sup>14</sup> Furthermore, imprisoning those affected by the Third Runway drastically changed the character of the neighborhoods, essentially causing blight.<sup>15</sup> With reduced property values, some property owners stopped maintaining their homes and tending to their yards.<sup>16</sup>

#### B. Procedural History<sup>17</sup>

Seeking relief from the detrimental impacts of Third Runway operations on property owners within its vicinity, Appellants filed a class action complaint.<sup>18</sup> Appellants then moved for class certification.<sup>19</sup> The trial court entered an order denying class certification, but permitting Appellants to file another class certification motion.<sup>20</sup> Appellants filed a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP at 3542; 3518-3519; 3548; 3588-3589.

<sup>12</sup> CP at 3580-3581; 3489-3490; 3593-3594.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP at 3445-3446; 3452-3453; 3470-3471; 3542; 3548; 3566; 3580-3581.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP at 3445-3446; 3452-3453; 3470-3471; 3548; 3580-3581; 3588-3589; 3 3504

<sup>3593-3594.</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP at 3489-3490; 3566-3567.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP at 3566-3567.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> For ease of reference, Appellants discuss additional facts specifically relevant to each challenged trial court order in Section II, Analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP at 165.

<sup>19</sup> CP at 37, 219.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP at 897-898

Second Amended Motion for Class Certification, which the trial court again denied.<sup>21</sup>

After the trial court denied class certification, Appellants filed a Third Amended Complaint on behalf of hundreds of individual plaintiffs.<sup>22</sup> The Port then moved for summary judgment on the claims of a number of plaintiffs whose properties were subject to "avigation easements" granted to the Port, and the trial court entered an order dismissing the claims of those Appellants with prejudice.<sup>23</sup> The Port also moved for summary judgment on the claims of a number of Appellants who had purchased their properties after the Port had published "Noise Exposure Maps" (NEMs).<sup>24</sup> The trial court then entered an order dismissing those Appellants' claims with prejudice.<sup>25</sup>

Appellants sought discretionary review of the dismissal of the claims of Appellants based on the NEMs.<sup>26</sup> While Appellants' motion for discretionary review was pending, the Port sought depositions of each of the 25 remaining plaintiffs.<sup>27</sup> This was contrary to the original discovery plan, ordered on August 22, 2012, which envisioned a "test case" litigation to reduce costs and expenses of mass tort litigation.<sup>28</sup> Appellants strongly opposed individual discovery because it ignored a previous plan for "test

<sup>24</sup> CP at 3844.

<sup>26</sup> CP at 4605.

<sup>21</sup> CP at 1256, 2055.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP at 2070.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP at 2097, 4294.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP at 4548.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP at 4623-4624, 4628-4629.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP at 2085, 2087.

case" litigation and because it was yet another cost that the Port sought to impose in an effort to smother the remaining plaintiffs.<sup>29</sup>

Appellants moved the trial court to stay the proceedings pending resolution of their motion for discretionary appellate review, arguing that a successful appeal of the class certification issue would obviate any grounds for such unduly burdensome discovery.<sup>30</sup> The trial court refused to stay the proceedings, and Appellants had no choice strategically other than to strike their motion for discretionary review and to obtain voluntary dismissals of the remaining plaintiffs to preserve their rights.<sup>31</sup> Appellants then timely appealed the trial court's order denying Plaintiffs' Second Amended Motion for Class Certification and the trial court's orders summarily dismissing the claims of the Appellants whose properties were subject to NEMs or avigation easements.<sup>32</sup>

#### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellants' Second Amended Motion for Class Certification

#### 1. Relevant Facts

Appellants' Second Amended Complaint was before the trial court when it considered Appellants' Second Amended Motion for Class Certification. In their Second Amended Complaint, Appellants alleged:

By reason of the third runway's close proximity to the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties, the flight path of aircraft originating and arriving at Sea-Tac Airport

30 Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See, e.g., CP at 4301-4306; 4414-4418; 4555-4563; 4817-4819.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP at 4745-4746; 4839-4842.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP at 4849.

is located in the vicinity of Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties. The number of airplanes passing in the vicinity of Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties has increased dramatically. Such airplanes, on take-off and landing, use the third runway at all hours of the day and night. The aircraft fly over private property in Sea-Tac Airport's vicinity at a low altitude. The increase in air traffic passing over the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties in close proximity to the properties has created heightened noise pollution, increased vibration, and increased toxic discharge and fumes, all of which have negative physical effects on Plaintiffs, Class Members, and other inhabitants of their homes.<sup>33</sup>

Based on this factual predicate, Appellants' Second Amended Complaint presented a single cause of action—inverse condemnation—and specifically alleged:

As a direct and proximate result of the increased airport operations at Sea-Tac Airport, including the use of the third runway following its construction, Defendant has substantially interfered with the practical use and enjoyment of Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties. By doing so, Defendant has caused a diminution in the fair market value of the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties and has taken and/or damaged the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties without the payment of just compensation and without due process of law, contrary to the United States Constitution and the Washington State Constitution.<sup>34</sup>

In their Second Amended Motion for Class Certification, Appellants proposed two separate classes, Class A and B.<sup>35</sup> Appellants proposed Miriam Bearse, John McKinney, and Darlene Moore as class

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP at 170.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> CP at 173 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CP at 1258. Appellants submitted visual representations of the two proposed classes plotted on a map. CP at 1005, 1007. Appellants do not appeal from the trial court's denial of certification of Class B.

representatives.36

(a) Class definition

Appellants defined Class A as (1) residential property owners (2) who as of November 20, 2008, have or had interests in real property (3) located within the areas north, west, and south of the third runway of Seattle-Tacoma International Airport.<sup>37</sup> Appellants developed the criteria for Class A by cross-referencing the Port's 2009 INM noise contours, the Port's complaint data, and a social survey of 936 residents in the proposed class area.<sup>38</sup>

Appellants' noise expert, Dr. Sanford Fidell, undertook an extensive social survey of 936 property owners to measure the actual community reaction to airport externalities approximately one year after the Port started using the third runway.<sup>39</sup> In Dr. Fidell's survey, 43% (402 of 936) of the respondents described themselves as highly annoyed by aircraft noise over the prior year.<sup>40</sup> In general, the results of Dr. Fidell's survey discovered that "the noise and vibration associated with aircraft operations on [the Third Runway] highly annoy, disturb the sleep, and interfere with the speech of substantial proportions of the residential population living north, south, and west of the airport."<sup>41</sup> Many survery respondents also reported that "[t]he soot and fumes associated with

- 36 CP at 1262-1263.
- <sup>37</sup> CP at 1011, 1260.
- <sup>38</sup> Id.
- 39 CP at 1086, 1096.
- 40 CP at 1097.
- <sup>41</sup> CP at 1086.

increased aircraft operations was also annoying."42

.

Most importantly, the survey's results revealed that 12.9% of the population in neighborhoods in the Third Runway's vicinity reported being "highly annoyed" at a Day-Night Average Sound Level (DNL)<sup>43</sup> of 51 decibels (dB), a substantially lower threshold than the 65 dB DNL predicted by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and relied on by the Port.<sup>44</sup> These findings were important because federal regulations of airport noise impacts define "significant noise impacts" as occurring when more than 12.9% of the population in a given area is highly annoyed by aircraft noise.<sup>45</sup> Thus, Dr. Fidell opined that the boundary of one class of property owners suffering "significant impacts" from the Third Runway's operations "included all property within the airport's [51 dB DNL] aircraft noise exposure contour as of 2009."<sup>46</sup>

Accordingly, Appellants compared the findings of significant noise impacts with the Port's noise data and concluded that residents experiencing noise exposure of at least 51 dB DNL correlated to significant noise impacts as defined by the FAA.<sup>47</sup> Appellants next examined the Port's 2009 actual DNL contours and plotted them on a map.<sup>48</sup> Thus, the western boundary of Class A is the edges of the 51 dB

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> "DNL is . . . a cumulative measure of environmental noise exposure . . . embraced by the [Federal Aviation Administration]. CP at 1041.

<sup>44</sup> CP at 1044-1047, 1050-1051.

<sup>45</sup> CP at 1046-1047.

<sup>46</sup> CP at 1054.

<sup>47</sup> CP at 1260-1261.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> The Port of Seattle is required to collect the underlying noise data and to periodically update its noise contour maps in order to qualify for federal noise mitigation

DNL contour as provided by the Port (i.e., where 12.9% or more of the local population are highly annoyed).<sup>49</sup>

Furthermore, Dr. Fidell analyzed the actual complaint data collected by the Port that reflects the change in complaints from property owners before and after the opening of the Third Runway.<sup>50</sup> The northern and southern boundaries of Class A reflected the spread of these intensifying complaints.<sup>51</sup> Not surprisingly, Class A contains an overwhelming majority of the property owners who contacted Appellants' counsel regarding possible action against the Port.<sup>52</sup>

Moreover, because Appellants' claims arose out of the use of the westernmost Third Runway, logic suggested that residents east of the airport do not share a common experience with west-side residents. Thus, the eastern boundary of Class A lay along the extended centerline of the second runway (16C, 34C) of Sea-Tac Airport.<sup>53</sup>

Finally, the Port asserted that avigation easements precluded relief for at least some of the property owners who fell within the contours of Class A, including Miriam Bearse and John McKinney. Because of the common factual and legal issues regarding the easements, Plaintiffs proposed to divide Class A into two subclasses: a subclass with easements

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