70220-3

70220-3

#### No. 70220-3-I

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

#### KEBEDE ADMASU, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

THE PORT OF SEATTLE, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent.

#### THE PORT OF SEATTLE'S BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**THE PORT OF SEATTLE** Traci M. Goodwin, WSBA No. 14974 Senior Port Counsel

**FOSTER PEPPER PLLC** Tim J. Filer, WSBA No. 16285 Patrick J. Mullaney, WSBA No. 21982 Adrian Urquhart Winder, WSBA No. 38071

1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, Washington 98101-3299 Telephone: (206) 447-4400

Attorneys for Respondent The Port of Seattle 🔅





# **

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

Plaintiffs' experts admitted they would need to divide the class area further, but they could not state how many subdivisions would be needed, how they would be defined, or whether multiple, unique valuation analyses would be required. CP 1460, 1678-80, 1697-98, 1706, 1708, 1710, 1715. The best they could say was that they were going to "*carve up some areas*." CP 1710. Plaintiffs' experts also anticipated using hundreds, if not thousands, of individual property appraisals, owner interviews, and property drive-bys to account for the myriad individual characteristics of the properties. CP 1691.<sup>7</sup>

## d. Plaintiffs' Valuation Experts Were Not Seeking To Provide Property-Specific Results.

An inverse condemnation plaintiff seeks compensation for the alleged governmental taking of a specified property right. CP 1506; *see Phillips*, 136 Wn.2d at 957. Plaintiffs' valuation experts did not explain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Plaintiffs had also proposed a Class Area B that was farther away from Sea-Tac, experienced markedly lower noise levels, and had no class representatives. Plaintiffs do not appeal the court's denial of class certification for that area. Appellants' Br. 10 n.35.

how they would identify or quantify the property right that the Port had allegedly taken. CP 1504. Instead, plaintiffs' experts testified that they planned to test for the generalized effect of the Third Runway by examining property values before and after it opened. CP 1505. They then proposed having class members somehow equitably allocate the aggregate class-wide diminution that they intended to calculate, perhaps through some sort of group participation. CP 1711-12.

Plaintiffs' experts' embryonic study concept was flawed because it failed to address the elements of a condemnation award, which, for each property, must specify the property right that the government has acquired and establish the fair market value of that right. CP 1518. Their proposed process was the opposite of what condemnation proceedings seek to determine – compensation for a specific interest in a particular property that is fair to the property owner, the government, and the public. CP 1518; *see Galvis v. Dep't of Transp.*, 140 Wn. App. 693, 703-04, 167 P.3d 584 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1041 (2008). This method would not carry plaintiffs' burden of proving the damage to the specific plaintiff's property. *Keene Valley Ventures*, 174 Wn. App. at 226.

Given this record, it was not an abuse of discretion for the court to find individualized issues predominated over common issues and that plaintiffs had failed to present a class-wide damages and causation model.

-32-

## D. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Finding That A Class Action Is Not A Superior Method For Resolving Inverse Condemnation Claims.

CR 23(b)(3) also requires a class action to be superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the case. A class action *must be superior, not just as good as*, other available methods. *Schnall*, 171 Wn.2d at 275. "If each class member has to litigate numerous and substantial separate issues to establish his or her right to recover individually, a class action is not 'superior." *Zinser v. Accufix Research Inst., Inc.*, 253 F.3d 1180, 1192 (9th Cir. 2001). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that a class action was not superior for litigating property-specific inverse condemnation claims.

# 1. The Predominance Of Individualized Issues Makes A Class Action Not Superior To Other Proceedings.

Predominance and superiority are closely related: "When a court determines that common questions do not predominate over individual ones ... the court is highly likely to find that a class action is also not superior because of the management difficulties posed by the individual questions." 2 Alba Conte & Herbert B. Newberg, <u>Newberg on Class Actions</u> § 4:32, at 283 (4th ed. 2002); *accord Sacred Heart Health Sys., Inc. v. Humana Military Healthcare Servs.*, 601 F.3d 1159, 1184 (11th Cir. 2010) (predominance analysis has "tremendous impact" on superiority analysis). Cases with predominantly individual questions

digress into a series of mini-trials, weighing down the court and the litigants. *See, e.g., Danvers Motor Co. v. Ford Motor Co.*, 543 F.3d 141, 149 (3d Cir. 2008); *Zimmerman v. Bell*, 800 F.2d 386, 390 (4th Cir. 1986) (individualized determinations impose "an excessive managerial burden" on the court).

This problem is especially prevalent in inverse condemnation cases relating to airport operations. *E.g.*, *Ario*, 367 N.W.2d at 514-16; *City of San Jose*, 525 P.2d at 710-12. Not only do such cases present a multitude of property-specific issues concerning liability, causation, and damages, but there is an inherent overlap between the liability and damages determination. *Martin*, 64 Wn.2d at 318-20; *Ario*, 367 N.W.2d at 515 ("Diminution in market value is so wedded to noise invasion that the former cannot be proved without again proving the latter.").

Appellants' assertion that their valuation experts' methodology would obviate the need for any individual appraisals or valuations is blatantly contradicted by the record. Appellants' Br. 27. Dr. Throupe testified that, for any valuation model actually created, "hundreds," if not "thousands," of individual property assessments would be needed to account for the endless number of variations in property type, location, age and other distinguishing features. CP 1691. This defeats the purpose. As the *City of San Jose* court observed: Given the many recognized factors combining to make up the uniqueness of each parcel of land, the number of subclassifications into which the class would be required to be divided to yield any meaningful result would be substantial.... The result becomes a statistical permutation, and the requisite number of subclassifications quickly approaches the total number of parcels in the class. Under such circumstances, there is little or no benefit in maintaining the action as a class.

525 P.2d at 711 (denying certification in an airport noise case).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when in holding that a mini-trial for each property on liability and damages eliminated any benefit from a class action.

## 2. A Class Action Is Not Superior When Class Members Will Pursue Their Own Claims.

The superiority analysis also requires the court to assess whether absent class members show an interest in individually controlling the prosecution of their separate claims. CR 23(b)(3)(A). A class action is not "superior" if members of the putative class will pursue their own cases. *Zinser*, 253 F.3d at 1190.

While the third class certification motion was pending, two of the three proposed class representatives and 340 other potential class members filed administrative tort claims against the Port asserting claims in addition to the ones asserted in the putative class action. CP 1977-2033. After certification was denied, 291 plaintiffs joined in the consolidated complaint, again asserting claims that were omitted from the class complaints. CP 2070-81. These claimants/plaintiffs plainly showed that they did not need a class action to assert their claims.

Plaintiffs' argument that a class action is necessary to provide claimants with access to the courts is simply wrong. Appellants' Br. 27-28. Litigation costs are not a barrier to bringing an inverse condemnation claim because attorneys' fees and expert witness fees are recoverable by successful inverse condemnation claimants. RCW 8.25.075(3). The individual plaintiffs were also being jointly represented on a contingent fee basis. *See, e.g.*, CP 1999-2013. There was simply no basis to conclude that property owners were unable or unlikely to pursue their claims – and in fact they did.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that a class action would not be a superior method of handling this litigation.

## E. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Finding That The Proposed Class Representatives Did Not Adequately Represent The Class.

CR 23(a)(4) requires that class representatives "fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class." Certification should be denied when a class representative's interests are antagonistic to those of absent class members. *DeFunis*, 84 Wn.2d at 622. The trial court correctly found that the class representatives did not adequately represent the class because of a conflict in their interests. CP 2065-66. That conflict arose from the class representatives' tactical decision to engage in "claim-splitting" that is prohibited under Washington law.

An injured party is limited to one lawsuit for property and/or personal injury damage resulting from one set of facts. *Landry v. Luscher*, 95 Wn. App. 779, 782, 976 P.2d 1274, *review denied*, 139 Wn.2d 1006 (1999). "Claim-splitting" is the attempted filing of separate lawsuits based on the same events and is prohibited under Washington law. *Sprague v. Adams*, 139 Wash. 510, 520, 247 P. 960 (1926); *Landry*, 95 Wn. App. at 782-83. This rule applies to class actions. *Knuth v. Beneficial Wash., Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 727, 31 P.3d 694 (2001). A judgment in a case asserting only part of a claim precludes a second action for the remainder. *Landry*, 95 Wn. App. at 782. This prohibition against claim-splitting is in accord with the policies of finality and avoiding duplicate litigation that underlie *res judicata* principles. *Id.* at 782-83.

The class representatives admitted that they limited the claims asserted in the putative class action to those for permanent decreases in real property value, purposefully foregoing claims for personal injuries. RP 27. Plaintiffs' counsel made this tactical decision specifically to increase their odds of obtaining class certification. RP 27-28. This attempted claim-splitting created a conflict with absent class members who, if the class was certified, would have been precluded from pursuing personal injury claims. This was not a hypothetical conflict. Two class representatives and 340 absent class members filed individual tort claims with the Port asserting precisely the claims omitted from the class action, and 291 plaintiffs later sued to assert those claims. CP 2037-48.

## 1. Class Representatives Are Inadequate When They Abandon Claims To Achieve Class Certification.

Numerous courts, including the Western District of Washington, have held that claim-splitting to achieve class certification renders class representatives inadequate. *E.g., Fosmire v. Progressive Max Ins. Co.*, 277 F.R.D. 625, 634 (W.D. Wash. 2011); *Kelecseny v. Chevron, U.S.A., Inc.*, 262 F.R.D. 660, 672-73 (S.D. Fla. 2009); *Krueger v. Wyeth, Inc.*, No. 03cv2496, 2008 WL 481956, at \*2-4 (S.D. Cal. Feb. 19, 2008); *Feinstein v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co.*, 535 F. Supp. 595, 606 (S.D.N.Y. 1982). This principle has been applied to deny class certification in the airport noise context where class representatives failed to bring reasonably expected personal injury claims in addition to their claims for property damages. *City of San Jose*, 525 P.2d at 808-09.

Plaintiffs assert for the first time on appeal that the prohibition on claim-splitting does not apply in class actions. Appellants' Br. 20. But the principle they cite actually arises with class actions certified for injunctive and declaratory relief under Rule 23(b)(1) or (2). *See Hiser v. Franklin*, 94 F.3d 1287, 1291 (9th Cir. 1996) (citing general rule that a

class action suit seeking only declaratory and injunctive relief will not bar subsequent individual damage claims by class members); *Cholakyan v. Mercedes-Benz, USA*, 281 F.R.D. 534, 562-65 (C.D. Cal. 2012) (mandatory, one-size-fits-all remedy that does not allow class members to opt out may diminish risk of claim preclusion for absent class members).

The rule that attempted claim-splitting creates a conflict of interest and makes class representatives inadequate is routinely enforced in damages cases (like this one) seeking certification under CR 23(b)(3).<sup>8</sup> In those cases, "concerns about preclusion are much more significant, [and] courts have refused to certify classes based on conflicts of interest between the named plaintiffs and the absent class members." *In re TFT-LCD (Flat Panel) Antitrust Litig.*, No. M 07-1827, 2012 WL 273883, at \*3 n.5 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 30, 2012) (distinguishing claim-splitting in 23(b)(3) cases). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the class representatives inadequate because of this adversity with the class.

## 2. Plaintiffs' Claims For Inverse Condemnation Would Recover Only For Real Property Damages.

Appellants argue that they properly represented the absent class members because their claim for inverse condemnation would have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> E.g., Beal v. Lifetouch, Inc., No. CV 10-8454-JST, 2012 WL 3705171, at \*4 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 27, 2012); Sanchez v. Wal Mart Stores, Inc., No. 2:06-CV-02573, 2009 WL 1514435, at \*3 (E.D. Cal. May 28, 2009); W. States Wholesale, Inc. v. Synth. Indus., 206 F.R.D. 271, 277 (C.D. Cal. 2002); Thompson v. Am. Tobacco Co., 189 F.R.D. 544, 550 (D. Minn. 1999); Pearl v. Allied Corp., 102 F.R.D. 921, 923-24 (E.D. Pa. 1984).

adequately compensated absent class members for personal injuries. Appellants' Br. 20-23. This is a complete misreading of the *Highline* decision, which holds that inverse condemnation is the sole permissible cause of action when a plaintiff seeks to recover <u>only</u> for a taking or damaging of real property by a municipality. *Highline*, 87 Wn.2d at 17 (school district sought recovery "only for loss of property rights, not personal or other injuries"). However, "where a plaintiff seeks to recover damages for *other than loss of property rights* ... the nuisance remedy is still available." *Id.* at 17-18 (emphasis added).

An inverse condemnation claim, by its very nature, addresses only injury to property rights and could not compensate for personal injuries. *See id.* at 13 n.5; *Martin*, 64 Wn.2d at 319. Class representatives Miriam Bearse and Darlene Moore and other putative class members sought *other* damages under tort theories not asserted in the class action at the time plaintiffs sought certification. CP 1977-79. The inverse condemnation claim alone could not recover for these other alleged injuries.

Despite multiple opportunities, plaintiffs failed to satisfy their burden under CR 23. The trial court carefully considered each element of the rule and properly denied class certification. This Court should affirm.

## V. ARGUMENT: THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ENFORCING THE PORT'S EXPRESS AVIGATION EASEMENTS

The trial court dismissed on summary judgment the claims of 126 plaintiffs (the "Easement Plaintiffs") based on the Port's express avigation easements over their properties. Plaintiffs conveyed the easements to the Port in exchange for valuable sound insulation improvements or cash payments as part of the Port's voluntary and statutorily authorized noise remedy program.

The Easement Plaintiffs concede, and the undisputed evidence shows, that operations at Sea-Tac do not exceed the scope of the avigation easements. Appellants' Br. 42-43; CP 1260-72, 2173-2692. Instead, the Easement Plaintiffs argue on appeal that the easements should not be enforced because they were not a voluntary or knowing waiver of their constitutional rights to compensation for the taking of a property interest. Appellants' Br. 47-52. These arguments are variations of other contract formation defenses that the trial court rejected and as to which the Easement Plaintiffs have not appealed.<sup>9</sup> The Easement Plaintiffs cite no authority showing that a constitutional waiver analysis is appropriate here,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Plaintiffs do not challenge the trial court's ruling that the easements were not obtained by coercion or misrepresentation, that the process for obtaining the easements was not procedurally unconscionable, and that the terms of the easements are not substantively unconscionable. Appellants' Br. 5. Plaintiffs have waived any appeal of those rulings. *Smith*, 106 Wn.2d at 451-52; RAP 10.3(a)(4), (6).

and even if it was, plaintiffs failed to create a genuine issue of material fact that would prevent summary judgment. The trial court's order granting summary judgment to the Port should be affirmed.

#### A. Standard Of Review For Summary Judgment.

This court reviews the trial court's summary judgment order *de* novo. Moeller, 173 Wn.2d at 271.

## B. The Port Is Statutorily Authorized To Acquire Interests In Real Property, Including Express Avigation Easements.

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